## FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/14/2018 9:49 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/20/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

CASE NO. 76360-1-I 96200-6

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TERESA L. BANOWSKY,

PETITIONER,

v.

GUY BACKSTROM, DC DBA BEAR CREEK CHIROPRACTIC.

#### **RESPONDENTS**

# PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

Paul E. Fogarty, WSBA #26929 FOGARTY LAW GROUP PLLC 2101 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 826-9400 Fax: (206) 826-9405

James R. Banowsky, WSBA#30270 1411 4<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 910 Seattle, WA 98101 (425) 208-5409

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Teresa L. Banowsky ("Banowsky"), underlying pro se plaintiff and underlying appellant, is the petitioner.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Banowsky seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision filed on July 16, 2018. See Appendix.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The District Court erred in dismissing the case (and the Superior Court and Court of Appeals erred in affirming the dismissal) instead of transferring the case from the District Court to the Superior Court in accordance with CRLJ 14A(b), when Banowsky's original pleading alleged damages "exceeding \$100,000."

A. The plain language of CRLJ 14A(b) mandates that the District Court "shall" transfer a case to Superior Court when "any party" asserts a claim in an amount in excess of the jurisdiction of the district court or seeks a remedy beyond the jurisdiction of the district court. There is no language that qualifies or makes the rule subject to an amended pleading or applicable only to when the District Court initially has jurisdiction through a pleading that asserts a claim within the court's jurisdiction.

- B. CRLJ 14A(b) was revised in 2004 to broaden the scope of the rule from "a defendant, third party defendant, or cross claimant" to "any party." However, an original proposed amendment to the rule referred only to "a plaintiff in an amended complaint, third party defendants, or cross claimant." This phrase was explicitly rejected by the Board of Judicial Administration, and "any party" was suggested and adopted. However, the Comment to revised CRLJ 14A(b) was not updated with the final amendment, and still only refers to a plaintiff in an amended petition, a designation that was explicitly rejected by the BJA, thus confusing the issue.
- C. Howlett and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) are distinguishable and inapplicable. The District Court and Superior Court relied on *Howlett* and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) in dismissing Banowsky's case. However, *Howlett* was decided before CRLJ 14A(b) was amended, and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) does not address every scenario that can arise when a plaintiff asserts a claim for damages in excess of the district court's jurisdiction.
- D. Application of CRLJ 14A(b) to transfer the case from

  District Court to Superior Court is consistent with the jurisdictional limits
  of the District Court.

- E. CRLJ 14A(b) must, as a practical matter, allow the District Court to exercise jurisdiction to act <u>after</u> the filing of a request for damages over \$100,000. *Howlett* holds that the District Court immediately loses jurisdiction over a claim where a plaintiff amends a complaint to allege damages in excess of the court's jurisdiction. If a court loses jurisdiction under *Howlett*, it simply cannot apply the rule for lack of subject matter jurisdiction without regard for the jurisdictional status of the case prior to losing jurisdiction.
- F. Dismissing Banowsky's pro se case for pleading damages in excess of the District Court's jurisdictional limitations, when the District Court had jurisdiction over the first \$100,000 claimed, is contrary to public policy and the stated goals of the Washington courts.

  Washington courts have long sought to determine cases in controversy according to their merits rather than on procedure whenever possible, and the dismissal of the Plaintiff's case is contrary to that intention.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Background Facts

In this case, Banowsky alleges that she sought medical care from Dr. Backstrom after experiencing a fall that occurred on or about February 25, 2013. CP at 105. She had sustained injuries to her right hip, pelvis,

and thigh area from the fall, and the injuries were characterized by extensive bruising. *Id*.

Banowsky explicitly requested that Dr. Backstrom not perform the typical manipulation treatment he had previously employed on the injured area because the pain was so great. *Id.* Banowsky requested that Dr. Backstrom take an x-ray of the area, which he proceeded to do even though at the time, he did not have the supplies in his office to develop x-rays and, therefore, could not examine an x-ray prior to his subsequent treatment of Banowsky. *Id.* 

Notwithstanding the fact that Banowsky obviously had an abnormal condition, that an x-ray analysis was not performed, and that Banowsky specifically requested not to receive manipulation on the injured areas, Dr. Backstrom proceeded to perform a lumbar spine manipulation on Banowsky. CP at 106.

When Dr. Backstrom performed a manipulation on Banowsky, his actions caused Banowsky's hamstring to immediately detach from the bone, after which Banowsky instantly heard a loud "pop" and felt significantly more intense pain in the injured area as well as additional pain in her lower leg and toes. CP at 106-107.

Furthermore, Banowsky alleges that Dr. Backstrom was experiencing personal issues at the time of the treatment, where he

expressed agitation, and which led to his inattention and use of too much force relating to the chiropractic manipulation. CP at 106.

Banowsky underwent subsequent surgery to re-attach the detached hamstring, but continued to experience severe pain as a result of Dr. Backstrom's actions up to and including the date on which she filed a Complaint against Dr. Backstrom. *Id*.

#### 2. Procedural Facts

On February 25, 2016, Banowsky filed a *pro se* Complaint in the King County District Court. CP at 105. The Complaint requested relief "in an amount exceeding \$100,000...." CP at 107. On April 14, 2016, Banowsky's attorney entered an appearance in the case. CP at 101.

On May 6, 2016, Banowsky filed Motion to Transfer Case to Superior Court. CP at 66-67. On May 11, 2016, Dr. Backstrom filed an opposition to the Motion to Transfer Case to Superior Court. CP at 45-53. On May 13, 2016, Banowsky filed a reply to Opposition to the Motion to Transfer Case to Superior Court. CP at 29-35.

On May 16, 2016, the District Court heard the motion to transfer and denied the motion and dismissed the case. CP at 27-28, 134-136.

On June 15, 2016, Banowsky filed Notice of Appeal to Superior Court. CP at 1.

On October 14, 2016, Banowsky filed an Appeal Brief with Superior Court in accordance with the Superior Court's scheduling order. CP at 111-119. On November 14, 2016, Dr. Backstrom filed the Brief of Respondents with the Superior Court. CP at 146-168.

On December 14, 2016, the Superior Court heard the appeal and denied it, affirming the dismissal of the District Court case. CP at 170-172, RP at 17-19.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's dismissal of the case by opinion dated July 16, 2018.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Banowsky submits that the Washington Supreme Court should accept review of the matter under RAP 13.4(b) for two reasons. Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), the appeal involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the appeal involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. That is, the Court of Appeals has created a bright line rule relating to the application (or non-application) of CRLJ 14A(b) that will impact many pro se plaintiffs who file their cases in good faith in the District Court.

A. CRLJ 14A(b) mandates that the District Court transfer the case to Superior Court when a when a party claims damages in excess of the jurisdiction limit.

CRLJ 14A(b) is unambiguous. When "any party" asserts a claim in an amount in excess of the district court's jurisdiction, the court "shall" order the entire case removed to superior court. CRLJ 14A(b). The rule states:

(b) Claims in Excess of Jurisdiction - Generally. When <u>any</u> <u>party</u> in good faith asserts a claim in an amount in excess of the jurisdiction of the district court or seeks a remedy beyond the jurisdiction of the district court, the district court <u>shall</u> order the entire case removed to superior court.

CRLJ 14A(b) (emphasis added).

The rule's plain language applies to all parties, which includes a plaintiff. Also, the rule provides the court with no option and no discretion other than to transfer the case to superior court. The rule does not say "may order the case removed." The rule does not provide dismissal as an option. The only option is transferring the case to superior court.

B. CRLJ 14A(b) was revised in 2004 to broaden the scope of the rule from "a defendant, third party defendant, or cross claimant" to "any party."

CRLJ 14A(b) was amended and broadened in 2004 to include plaintiffs ("any party"):

When a defendant, third party defendant, or cross claimant any party in good faith asserts a claim in an amount in excess of the jurisdiction of the district court or seeks a

remedy beyond the jurisdiction of the district court, the district court shall order the entire case removed to superior court.

See WSR 04-15-028, Rules of Court, State Supreme Court, In the Matter of the Adoption of the Amendments to CRLJ 14A(b), Order No. 25700-A-792. That is, the rule was expanded to specifically include plaintiffs.

In an apparent explanation of the reason for the amendment, a part of the official comment to CRLJ 14A(b) states:

This rule change would allow a plaintiff the same right as other parties to transfer a case to superior court, **upon the filing of an amended complaint**, [and] will encourage plaintiffs to file cases initially in the district court. Plaintiffs can file in the district court knowing that if a basis for claiming damages in excess of the jurisdictional limit of the district court should arise after they have filed their complaint, then they will have the opportunity to transfer their case to the superior court.

However, the comment corresponds with an interim amendment that was offered to, and rejected by, the Board of Judicial Administration (chaired by Supreme Court Chief Justice Gerry Alexander) before the Board finally adopted the current version of the rule. *See Minutes of the Board of Judicial Administration meeting on January 24, 2003*, Olympia, Washington.

The initially proposed amendment to CRLJ 14A(b) provided:

When a defendant plaintiff in an amended complaint, third party defendant, or cross claimant in good faith asserts a claim in an amount in excess of the jurisdiction of the district court or seeks a remedy beyond the jurisdiction of the district court, the district court shall order the entire case removed to superior court.

Id. But the Board explicitly rejected this proposed version of the rule, and recommended adoption of the rule in its present state, which refers to "all parties." Therefore, it is clear that the Board did not intend the additional parties included in the amended rule to be limited to "plaintiffs in an amended complaint." This appears to put the current rule and its associated comment in conflict, but a reasonable inference can be made that the comment was not updated to reflect the final amendment that was recommended by the Board and ultimately adopted by the Supreme Court, or that the comment is just one example of the many scenarios that could arise under the rule, including Banowsky's situation.

Additionally, there is specific, post-rule revision, Division 1 case law that supports an interpretation that if a plaintiff asserts a claim in excess of the district court's jurisdiction that the proper procedure is to transfer the case to superior court. *E.g.*, *City of Seattle v. Sisley*, 164 Wn. App. 261, 265, 263 P.3d 610, 612 (2011) ("Finally, RCW 3.66.020 provides that district courts have no jurisdiction if a claim exceeds

\$75,000: 'If the value of the claim or the amount at issue does not exceed seventy-five thousand dollars, exclusive of interest, costs, and attorneys' fees, the district court shall have jurisdiction.' When a claim exceeds that value, it may be removed to superior court. (citing CR 14A(a) [sic])".

In any event, the plain language of CRLJ 14A(b) indicates that a plaintiff in the position of Banowsky may avail herself of the rule and have her case transferred to the superior court.

# C. Howlett and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) are distinguishable and inapplicable.

The District Court and Superior Court appear to rely heavily on *Howlett v. Weslo, Inc.*, 90 Wn. App. 365, 951 P.2d 831 (1998) and the comment to the CRLJ 14A, essentially finding that before CR 14A(b) [sic] can apply, the district court must already have jurisdiction over the case and a subsequent claim asserts a claim for damages over \$100,000. *E.g.*, CP at 134-136, RP at 17-19. But both Howlett and the comment to CR 14A are distinguishable.

*Howlett*, a Division 3 case, held that when a plaintiff amended the complaint to assert a claim alleging the damages exceeding the district court's jurisdictional limit, there was no authority for the district court to transfer jurisdiction over the case to the superior court. *Howlett v. Weslo, Inc.*, 90 Wn. App. 365, 367, 951 P.2d 831, 833 (1998).

First, *Howlett* was decided <u>before</u> CRLJ 14A(b) was amended and broadened in 2004 to include plaintiffs in general ("any party").

Accordingly, the plaintiff in *Howlett* did not (and could not) argue that the district court has a specified power to transfer the case under CR 14A(b).

See, *Howlett* at 367 ("Nor does she argue the district court has a specified power to transfer the case. Instead, she argues the district court has the inherent or implied power to transfer the case to the superior court because RCW 3.66.010 vests the district courts with 'all the necessary powers, which are possessed by the courts of record in this state."").

Second, and in support of dismissal in *Howlett*, the *Howlett* court cited *Crosby v. Spokane County*, 87 Wn. App. 247, 253, 941 P.2d 687 (1997) and *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 539, 886 P.2d 189, 193 (1994). Neither *Crosby* nor *Marley* addressed facts or issues that are similar to this case.

In *Crosby*, the plaintiff failed to perfect her appeal. *Crosby at* 253 ("The court in this case did not err. Under *Griffith* and *Sterling*, the court lacked jurisdiction because Mr. Crosby failed to file the affidavit or verification required by RCW 7.16.050 within 90 days after filing the writ application. A court lacking jurisdiction of any matter may do nothing other than enter an order of dismissal."). *Crosby* is distinguishable where the plaintiff failed to perfect her appeal and there was no option other than

to dismiss. In Banowsky's situation, the district court had jurisdiction up to \$100,000 and a revised CRLJ 14A(b) provided a mechanism to transfer the case to the superior court.<sup>1</sup>

In *Marley*, the issue was whether the Department's order (an adjudication) was void. *Marley* at 539 ("[A] void judgment exists whenever the issuing court lacks personal jurisdiction over the party or subject matter jurisdiction over the claim"). *Marley* is distinguishable because an order (an adjudication, a judgment) was actually entered deciding the case and the order was void for lack of jurisdiction. In Banowsky's case, the District Court did not enter a judgment for over \$100,000 (the district court would lack jurisdiction to do so). In Crosby, the plaintiff failed to perfect her appeal. In Marley, the issue was whether the Department's order (an adjudication) was void.

The comment to CRLJ 14A(b) addresses when a plaintiff amends her complaint (*e.g. Howlett*), and appears to specifically address the inequitable situation such as the one at issue in *Howlett*, where the plaintiff amended her complaint to assert a claim in excess of the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Additionally, it should be noted that *Crosby* was reversed in 1999, when the Supreme Court held that the jurisdictional requirement had been satisfied by substantial compliance with the affidavit/verification requirement. *See Crosby v. Spokane County*, 137 Wn.2d 296, 301-303, 971 P.2d 32 (1999) ("Our approach is consistent with sound public policy...[citation omitted] that the merits of controversies be reached...[citation omitted] and the purpose of the civil rules it to place substance over form to the end that cases be resolved on the merits.") It is undisputed that Banowsky substantially complied with the filing of her complaint in the District Court.

jurisdictional limit, leading to dismissal. But the comment does not suggest that CRLJ 14A(b) be so limited to exclude the fact pattern in this case. In fact, as discussed above, the fact that the Board of Judicial Administration explicitly rejected wording that would limit the application of the rule to "plaintiffs in amended complaints" indicates that the rule should not be read to limit its application in such a manner.

Whether or not the limitation of the comment should be read into the rule can be determined by following canons of statutory construction. Although CRLJ 14A(b) is a court rule, and not a legislative statute, the same rules of construction can be applied. State v. Otton, 185 Wn.2d 673, 681, 374 P.3d 1108, 1112 (2016) (The court interprets court rules the same way it interprets statutes, using the tools of statutory construction and the court begins with the plain language of the rule). By virtue of separation of powers, courts are empowered to make their own procedural rules, and can even overrule court rules enacted into law by a legislature. Marine Power & Equip. Co. v. State, 102 Wn.2d 457, 461, 687 P.2d 202, 204-05 (1984) ("It is within the power of this court to dictate, under the constitutional separation of powers, its own court rules, even if they contradict rules established by the Legislature"). In fact, Superior Court Civil Rule CR 81 states that procedural statutes - other than certain enumerated proceedings - are superseded by the civil and criminal rules

for superior court. *See, also* Civil Rules for Courts of Limited Jurisdiction Rule 81(b), which states, "(b) Conflicting Statutes and Rules. Subject to the provisions of section (a) of this rule, these rules supersede all procedural statutes and other rules that may be in conflict."

It has long been the rule to interpret statutes (and rules) as they are plainly written, unless a literal reading would contravene legislative intent by leading to a strained or absurd result. *Marine Power & Equip. Co. v.*State, 102 Wn.2d 457, 461, 687 P.2d 202, 204-05 (1984).

Looking to scholarly writings on statutory construction, legal scholars have written and opined extensively on how Washington courts interpret statutes. For example, Philip A. Talmadge, in *A New Approach to Statutory Interpretation in Washington*, 25 Seattle U. Law Review 179, 190, 211 (2001), writes "Washington courts have long indicated that they will not construe a plain and unambiguous statute, that is, they will not resort to canons of construction or legislative history to analyze the meaning of a statute. This is often described as the plain meaning rule."

Under the plain meaning rule, courts must give statutes their full effect, *even if the result is unjust, arbitrary, or inconvenient. Id.*, citing *Board of Trade v. Hayden*, 4 Wash. 263, 280, 30 P. 87, 91 (1892), (emphasis added). Likewise, Professor Wang writes, "[a]s a corollary to the rule permitting examination of legislative history in the case of ambiguity,

Washington courts have found it inappropriate to consider the legislative history of an unambiguous statute." Wang, Arthur C., 7 *Univ. of Puget Sound Law Review* 571 at 576 (1984).

Even if one believes that applying the exact language of Rule CRLJ 14(A)(b) rather than more narrowly according to the comment (*i.e.* only to plaintiffs in amended complaints) would lead to a case where the words go beyond what was probably the intention, the long history of jurisprudence in Washington requires that the interpretation, based on the exact language of the rule, controls any other interpretation. "Where, as here, the language of the statute is plain and not ambiguous, a departure from its clear meaning is not warranted." *McCarver v. Manson Park and Recreation Dist.*, 92 Wn. 2d 370, 378, 597 P.2d 1362, 1366 (1979), citing *Roza Irrigation Dist. v. State*, 80 Wn.2d 633, 497 P.2d 166 (1972).

In *Roza Irrigation Dist.*, the Supreme Court of Washington, *en banc*, found that interpretation of a statute was necessary because there were at least two meanings of the term "municipal corporation." However, the Court first stated, "Of course the basic rule is that, where the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, there is no room for judicial interpretation." *Id.* at 635, citing *King County v. Seattle*, 70 Wn.2d 988, 425 P.2d 887 (1967).

Accordingly, CRLJ 14A(b) should be applied to the present case, according to its plain language, and Banowsky's case should be transferred from the District Court to the Superior Court.

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