FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/27/2018 1:33 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

#### NO. 96200-6

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## TERESA BANOWSKY,

Petitioner,

v.

GUY BACKSTROM, D.C., d/b/a Bear Creek Chiropractic Center,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jennifer D. Koh, WSBA #25464 Mark B. Melter, WSBA #46262 Eron Z. Cannon, WSBA #42706 FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

# **

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

The Court of Appeals did not create or change any rule of procedure or substantive law. *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 349. On the contrary, the Court followed CRLJ 12(h)(3), CRLJ 82, its own decisions and those of this Court, and the "clear public policy of our state constitution," to conclude that "[t]he constitutionally grounded amount-incontroversy limitation on subject matter jurisdiction cannot be eliminated or altered by means of a court rule," particularly CRLJ 14A(b). *Id.* at 346-

49 & nn.23-25 & 29-30. As the published opinion by the Court of Appeals is a correct statement of current Washington law, no issue of public interest is presented. Unlike other circumstances in which review has been granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4),<sup>2</sup> this case does not involve a novel legal ruling with potential to impact similar pending litigation in Washington.

Moreover, in the remainder of her petition, *Pet. at* 7-19 (Sections V.A. – F.), Ms. Banowsky merely repeats arguments she presented to the Court of Appeals without acknowledging the points with which the Court agreed or the reasoning the Court described for reaching a different result. Because she fails to identify or explain any issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) of any of these arguments, this Court should deny her petition.

1. The Court of Appeals agreed with Ms. Banowsky's claim that CRLJ 14A(b) is unambiguous, but held that it could not be applied in violation of other rules, case law, and public policy, a holding that she does not address.

Ms. Banowsky first contends that CRLJ 14A(b) unambiguously requires the district court to transfer a case to superior court at the request of any party and "does not provide dismissal as an option." *Pet. at* 7

-10-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (Court of Appeals' holding had "potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue").

(Section V.A.). The Court of Appeals acknowledged that "there is no ambiguity in the language of CRLJ 14A(b)," and agreed that "[o]n its face, the rule purports to compel a transfer when "any party" asserts a claim beyond the amount in controversy limit, which would include the plaintiff's initial complaint." *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 346. Obviously, the Court of Appeals did not disagree with Ms. Banowsky's interpretation or conclude that the rule has a different meaning. *Id*.

However, Ms. Banowsky ignores the central holding by the Court of Appeals that the *application* of CRLJ 14A(b) to her complaint, which did not invoke the jurisdiction of the district court within the amount-incontroversy limitation in the first place, "expressly and absolutely conflicts with CRLJ 12(h)(3)," which unambiguously requires dismissal of an action "[w]herever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter," as well as well-settled case authority of this Court<sup>3</sup> and CRLJ 82, which establish that procedural court rules apply only after the commencement of an action and cannot be construed to extend the subject matter jurisdiction of the court. *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 346-47 & n.24. Because CRLJ 14A(b), like any procedural rule, "may provide relief in circumstances that

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Diehl v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 153 Wn.2d 207, 216, 103 P.3d 193 (2004).

arise only after the district court acquires subject matter jurisdiction," the Court of Appeals held that it cannot be applied to "carve out an exception to" the "constitutionally grounded amount-in-controversy limitation on subject matter jurisdiction." *Id.* at 346-47.

Rather than acknowledging, as did the Court of Appeals, the conflict with CRLJ 12(h)(3), CRLJ 82, published authority, and the state constitution that would arise with the application of CRLJ 14A(b) to require a transfer in this case, Ms. Banowsky merely repeats her claim regarding the unambiguous plain meaning of the rule. But, Supreme Court review is not justified here to merely confirm that the plain language of CRLJ 14A(b) is not ambiguous, particularly given the clear statement to that effect in the published opinion of the Court of Appeals. *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 346 & n.21. And, Ms. Banowsky fails to articulate any error in the Court of Appeals' conclusion that application of the plain language in this case conflicts with other established procedural rules and substantive law or that resolution of the conflict requires the procedural rule to yield to well-settled substantive law of subject matter jurisdiction.

Ultimately, the mere existence of that conflict does not present a question of substantial public interest warranting review. The circumstances in this case are undoubtedly unique in that the vast majority of litigants who file complaints in district court do so with knowledge of

the amount-in-controversy limitation on district court jurisdiction, and, when including a demand for damages in the complaint, actually identify an amount within that limit. Ms. Banowsky's case appears rarer still in that she waited until the day before the statute of limitations expired to file suit and then expressly affirmed the district court's lack of jurisdiction when requesting transfer. Because Ms. Banowsky does not identify any error in the Court of Appeals' reasoning or claim or establish that its holding has the potential to impact a significant number of other district court litigants, she fails to identify an issue of substantial public interest.

2. Ms. Banowsky fails to identify any error in the Court of Appeals' refusal to rely on the history of CRLJ 14A(b) or *City of Seattle v. Sisley* to discern the meaning of the rule.

Ms. Banowsky next claims that the history of CRLJ 14A(b) demonstrates that its drafters intended it to apply to plaintiffs' initial complaints as well as amended complaints. *Pet. at* 7-10 (Section V.B.). But, she ignores the Court of Appeals' holding that the rule is not ambiguous, such that resort to its history to discern its meaning is not required or appropriate. *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 346 & n.21. As the Court of Appeals interpreted the unambiguous plain language of the rule in a manner entirely consistent with the view she proposed, that is, that CRLJ 14A(b) "[o]n its face" "purports to compel transfer" when "the

plaintiff's initial complaint" "asserts a claim beyond the amount-incontroversy limit," *id.*, this Court need not address the rule's history.

As before the Court of Appeals, Ms. Banowsky merely repeats her claim that City of Seattle v. Sisley, 164 Wn. App. 261, 265, 263 P.3d 610 (2011), supports her view that CRLJ 14A(b) requires a transfer to superior court whenever a plaintiff asserts a claim in excess of the monetary limit. Pet. at 9-10. But, the Court of Appeals concluded that Sisley is not controlling because it evaluated a municipal court's exercise of its exclusive, original jurisdiction over municipal ordinance violations not subject to the district court's amount-in-controversy limitation and because its passing reference to CRLJ 14A was dictum. Banowsky, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 350 (citing *Sisley*, 164 Wn. App. at 256-57).<sup>4</sup> She fails to articulate any error in that holding. Because Sisley obviously did not decide the question presented in this case, that is, whether CRLJ 14A(b) can alter the constitutionally grounded amount-in-controversy limitation on district court subject matter jurisdiction, and because she does not claim or establish that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Sisley in a manner justifying an opinion by this Court, review is not warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Sisley*, the court cited only to CRLJ 14A(a), providing for removal to obtain jurisdiction over third party defendants, to support its general premise that a claim that exceeds the amount identified in RCW 3.66.020 may be removed to superior court. *Sisley*, 164 Wn. App. at 265 & n.8.

3. The Court of Appeals did not err by agreeing with Ms. Banowsky that the outcome of this case is not controlled by the comments to CRLJ 14A(b) or *Howlett v. Weslo, Inc.* 

Ms. Banowsky next presents an extensive discussion to support her claim that Howlett v. Weslo and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) "are distinguishable and inapplicable," including several pages devoted to an analysis of cases cited by *Howlett* and to advocating for the application of the cannons of statutory construction, and alternatively, for consideration of the history of the comment, to determine the meaning of the rule. *Pet.* at 10-17 (Section V.C.). Ms. Banowsky again ignores the fact that the Court of Appeals explicitly stated that it did "not look to the rule's comments for further clarification" because the meaning of CRLJ 14A(b) is plain on its face, and that it did not rely on *Howlett*, agreeing with Ms. Banowsky that it "does not control the issue presented in this case." Banowsky, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 346 & n.21, 350 (italics added for emphasis). Ms. Banowsky does not explain why she believes that an opinion from this Court is required to confirm that Howlett and the comment to CRLJ 14A(b) are not controlling.

Ms. Banowsky also claims it is a "logical fallacy" to apply CRLJ 14A(b) where "the district court already has jurisdiction" when she claims that *Howlett* holds that the district court "immediately loses subject matter jurisdiction over a case when a plaintiff amends her complaint to allege

damages in excess of the court's jurisdiction limits." *Pet. at* 17-18 (Section V.D.). But, again, the Court of Appeals explicitly stated that it was not relying on *Howlett* to discern the meaning of CRLJ 14A(b). *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 350. Instead, the Court merely noted that the court's "observation" in *Howlett* "that a case must be dismissed when it exceeds the court's subject matter jurisdiction" "is entirely consistent with our decision here." *Id.* Given that no party has suggested that the Court of Appeals erred by concluding *Howlett* does not control the meaning of the unambiguous plain language of CRLJ 14A(b) because it was amended after *Howlett* was decided, Ms. Banowsky has not established grounds for review by this Court.

4. Ms. Banowsky's disagreement with the Court's public policy analysis does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

Citing CRLJ 1, providing that the court rules are to be "construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action," Ms. Banowsky claims that public policy and the goals of Washington courts, such as that favoring the resolution of disputes on the merits, requires a conclusion that the district court "had jurisdiction over the first \$100,000" of damages she sought in her complaint. *Pet. at* 18-19 (Section V.E.). She claims that dismissal of her complaint, where (1) she "substantially complied with the filing requirements" of the district court,

and (2) Dr. Backstrom "was on notice of the case within the statute of limitations," is "an absurd and unjust result." *Pet. at* 19.

But, Ms. Banowsky completely ignores the public policy analysis actually described by the Court of Appeals. See Banowsky, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 347-48. In particular, beginning with the fundamental rule that subject matter jurisdiction "is an elementary prerequisite to the exercise of judicial power," id. at 342 (quoting In re Adoption of Buehl, 87 Wn.2d 649, 655, 555 P.2d 1334 (1976)), the Court held that a prohibition on transferring a case to superior court under CRLJ 14A(b) when the district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction is consistent with the "clear policy" set by "our state constitution" providing the superior court with "almost 'universal' subject matter jurisdiction" and "necessarily" limiting the jurisdiction of other trial courts, id. at 347. "[T]o allow a plaintiff to ignore the district court amount-in-controversy and force a transfer even though she demanded an amount over the district court limit," "would greatly undercut that intentional divide" between the superior court and courts of limited jurisdiction. *Id.* The Court explicitly rejected Ms. Banowsky's claim that the district court could "split" a claim greater than \$100,000 "to retain subject matter jurisdiction over the first \$100,000 and ignore the excess" because "[a]llowing subject matter jurisdiction to be manipulated in this way would erode material differences between the superior courts

and the district courts and open the door to potential abuse." *Id.* at 348.

Ms. Banowsky fails to identify any error in the Court of Appeals' evaluation of the public policy choices at stake in this case. Nothing in CRLJ 1 or any other authority suggests that the goal of resolving disputes on the merits trumps the essential public policy prohibiting a district court from exercising judicial authority when it lacks subject matter jurisdiction. And, no authority supports her novel proposal for splitting claims. This is not an issue of substantial public interest.

5. <u>Silver Surprize, Inc. v. Sunshine Mining Co.</u>, does not support Ms. Banowsky's theory or raise an issue of substantial public interest.

Finally, Ms. Banowsky claims that a statement in *Silver Surprize v*. *Sunshine Mining Co.*, 74 Wn.2d 519, 523, 445 P.2d 334 (1968), that jurisdiction is not "destroy[ed]" when a plaintiff merely "seeks more than the law permits," supports her theory that her demand for damages in excess of the amount-in-controversy does not "destroy" the jurisdiction of the district court. *Pet. at* 19 (Section V.F.). She is incorrect.

In *Silver Surprize*, an Idaho corporation sued a Washington corporation for breach of a contract regarding ownership and exploitation of certain mining claims in Idaho; the defendant asserted defenses associated with real property disputes. *Silver Surprize*, 74 Wn.2d at 520, 521-22. The superior court dismissed the suit, reasoning that the subject

matter was the determination of title to Idaho real estate. *Id.* at 522.

Recognizing that "an action brought to try the naked question of title to land must be brought in the state where the land is situate," this Court reversed the dismissal order because the nature of the plaintiff's claim, based on the facts alleged and the relief sought in the complaint, was "patently a contract action." *Id.* at 522. Because the "source of the jurisdiction of the superior courts is the constitution of this state" rather than the defendant's consent, the defendant could not "by his answer destroy the jurisdiction" that the superior court had attained over the suit at the filing of the complaint. *Id.* at 522-23. The Court also noted that the fact that the plaintiff sought "more than the law permits," particularly certain alternative contractual and equitable remedies, did not "in itself" "destroy" the jurisdiction of the superior court, but merely limited "the effective relief the court can properly grant." *Id.* at 523.

Here, the Court of Appeals distinguished the statement upon which Ms. Banowsky relies as dictum that lacked citation to Washington authority. *Banowsky*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 348. In addition, nothing in the case suggests that a district court lacking subject matter jurisdiction over a lawsuit may exercise its judicial authority to grant some part of the relief

requested by a party.<sup>5</sup> Ms. Banowsky's unreasonable view of an isolated statement in a case holding that the superior court has subject matter jurisdiction over a breach of contract claim does not raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

### VI. CONCLUSION

Aside from referencing RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), Ms. Banowsky does not identify or establish any proper ground warranting review. Her mere repetition of arguments she presented to the Court of Appeals, without acknowledging the ways in which the Court agreed with her as to the plain meaning of CRLJ 14A(b) or confronting its reasons for concluding that the rule could not be applied to expand the district court's subject matter jurisdiction in this case, is not sufficient to raise a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest. The Petition for Review should be denied.

-

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